STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenville County

RECEIVED

Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

JUL 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN CALVIN SLEDGE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000641

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting the portions of the 911 call where the caller said that Appellant and his mother were fighting earlier in the evening and where the caller said that Appellant shot his mother because the statements were inadmissible hearsay and more prejudicial than probative?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's statements to police where his statements were not free and voluntary based on a totality of the circumstances?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in sentencing Appellant to five-years incarceration for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime where Appellant was sentenced to life for murder and S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-23-490 expressly provides that the five-year sentence "does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 30, 2015, the Greenville County Grand Jury returned an indictment against Appellant John Calvin Sledge for murder and possession of a pistol during the commission of a violent crime. R. 332. On February 16, 2016, the Greenville County Grand Jury returned an additional indictment against Sledge for unlawful conduct toward a child. Supp. R. 1.

On March 14 – 16, 2016, Sledge appeared for trial before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill. R. 1. Sledge was represented by Charles Propst and Stuart Sarratt, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors Judith Munson and Brittany Scott. R. 1.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three offenses. R. 324, ll. 2-23. Judge Hill sentenced Sledge to concurrent terms of life in prison for murder, five years for the weapons offense, and ten years for unlawful conduct toward a child. R. 328, ll. 11-24.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant John Sledge was accused of shooting his wife, Kimberly Sledge (“hereinafter “Kimberly”), in the head, resulting in her death. The primary “evidence” against Sledge was the lack of evidence against anyone else. R. 230, l. 21 – 233, l. 5; R. 249, l. 3 – 251, l. 10; R. 263, ll. 23-25

According to Sledge’s ten-year old stepson, Michael W., Sledge and Kimberly had been arguing. He alleged that Kimberly’s collarbone was broken in an altercation that he interrupted earlier in the evening. Michael went to bed at approximately 9:00 p.m. but came out of his room five minutes after he heard “a loud bang and the house shook.” R. 277, l. 4 – 282, l. 11. Michael saw his mother face down on the floor in the bathroom doorway and did not see Sledge in the house. R. 282, ll. 12-25. He found a phone on the bathroom floor and called 911 at 10:15 p.m., 10:16 p.m., and 10:17 p.m. The completed call to 911 lasted twenty-two minutes and twenty-nine seconds. R. 62, l. 11 – 63, l. 6; R. 283, ll. 1-9. While officers testified that there were no footprints in the snow going up to the backdoors or windows of the home, there were a variety of impressions in the front of the house, including those of the first responders. R. 88, ll. 8-16; R. 228, ll. 14-18; see also R. 131, ll. 1-12; R. 133, ll. 10-20.

The pathologist, Dr. James Fuller, testified that Kimberly died from one gunshot wound to the back of the head, fired from several feet away. R. 185, l. 25 – 187, l. 25; R. 195, ll. 11-18. The toxicology report revealed that her blood alcohol level was 0.192 percent weight by volume. R. 190, ll. 3-17. **Dr. Fuller did not find any other injuries to Kimberly’s body** once the blood was cleaned off of it. R. 190, l. 21 – 191, l. 1; R. 193, l. 13 – 194, l. 8.

A .357 caliber revolver, in a closed fabric case, was seized from a chair on the front porch of the family home. There were three cartridges and one cartridge casing, all .357 Magnum,

loaded inside of the cylinder of the gun. There were also three .38 Special cartridges loose in the gun case. R. 135, ll. 9-25; R. 138, ll. 1-20; R. 168, l. 9 – 171, l. 6; State’s Exs. 15 and 16 (photographs).¹ The state’s firearms examiner, James Armstrong, testified that the gun was operable. R. 168, l. 9 – 169, l. 6. Not surprisingly, Armstrong determined that the spent .357 Magnum cartridge casing inside of the cylinder of the revolver was fired by it. R. 169, l. 7 – 170, l. 15. He confirmed that the seized gun was capable of firing both .357 Magnum and .38 Special ammunition. R. 171, ll. 2-6.

Armstrong also examined metal fragments collected from the bathrooms, which he identified as a fired bullet core found in Michael’s bathroom and a portion of a fired bullet core found in the sink of the bathroom where the victim laid. R. 155, ll. 11-20; R. 173, l. 23 – 177, l. 6. Armstrong opined that the fired bullet core was a .38/9mm and had general rifling characteristics “consistent with five lands and grooves with a right-hand twist,” like that of the seized gun. R. 174, ll. 1-22; R. 175, l. 21 – 176, l. 7. On cross-examination, Armstrong admitted that there are a large number of guns manufactured with five lands and grooves with a right-hand twist. R. 178, l. 22 – 179, l. 16. Additionally, there was no copper jacket collected, which is necessary to see the identifying features of a firing gun on a projectile. R. 175, ll. 7-20; R. 178, ll. 18-21. With the bullet core only, Armstrong could merely say that it was possible that the seized gun fired the bullet core found in Michael’s bathroom. R. 176, ll. 5-7. The other metal fragment was consistent with being a portion of a fired bullet core but was not suitable for microscopic comparison. R. 176, ll. 19-22.

Sledge did not testify at trial, but the videos of his detention pursuant to a traffic stop and a redacted video of his interrogation were admitted into evidence. Sledge said that he and

¹ State’s Exhibit Nos. 15 and 16 (photographs) are on file with this Court.

Kimberly had argued that night and he left, but that he was returning home when police stopped him. He admitted firing the gun that was found on the porch earlier in the day. He denied killing his wife. State's Ex. 7 (traffic stop video);² State's Ex. 61 (redacted interrogation).³ Police obtained video surveillance footage from a Spinx convenience store, which showed that Sledge purchased beer there at 10:27 p.m. R. 233, ll. 18-25. Sledge was stopped by deputies at 11:08 p.m., as he was travelling northbound on Highway 25, toward his home. R. 81, ll. 1-3; R. 87, l. 7 – 89, l. 4; R. 234, ll. 1-2; State's Ex. 7.

Admissibility of 911 Call

Defense counsel made a pre-trial motion *in limine* to exclude the portions of the 911 call where the caller, Michael, said that Sledge shot his mother and referenced fighting among Sledge and Kimberly that occurred prior to the shooting. R. 15, l. 20 – 16, l. 1. Counsel argued that the statements were hearsay, not falling under any exception. R. 16, ll. 2-15. The solicitor argued that Michael would testify regarding the fighting at trial and observed approximately thirty minutes prior to the 911 call. Thus, he argued that the statements about Sledge and Kimberly fighting were both a present sense impression and excited utterance made during a call immediately after finding his mother laying on the floor. R. 16, l. 23 – 17, l. 6. Regarding the response that “John Sledge” shot his mother, the solicitor argued: “[A]gain, this witness will

² State's Exhibit No. 7 (traffic stop video) is on file with this Court. Notations to specific times with respect to this exhibit are based upon the Windows Media Player time display.

³ State's Exhibit No. 62 (redacted interrogation video) is on file with this Court. The redactions were agreed upon and ruled upon in compliance with State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 768 S.E.2d 656 (2015) (“remind[ing] trial courts that the questions police pose during suspect interviews may contain false accusations, inherently unreliable, unconfirmed or false statements, and inflammatory remarks that constitute legitimate points of inquiry during a police investigation, but that would otherwise be inadmissible in open court”). R. 43, l. 23 – 46, l. 17; R. 196, l. 16 – 211, l. 11; R. 261, ll. 9-14. However, the unredacted version of the interrogation video was marked as Court's Exhibit 2.

testify. And there is no issue here with the confrontation in this case.” R. 17, ll. 7-9. The solicitor agreed that the 911 call was approximately twenty-two minutes long. R. 17, ll. 10-16. The solicitor attempted to narrow the timeline further, claiming that the testimony would reveal that the fighting between the parties occurred ten to fifteen minutes prior to the gunshot. R. 17, l. 17 – 18, l. 1.

Judge Hill ruled that the entirety of the 911 call was admissible. R. 18, ll. 2-11. The recording of the 911 call was admitted into evidence over defense counsel’s renewed objection through the state’s first witness. R. 61, ll. 3-23; State’s Ex. 1 (911 call).⁴

***Jackson v. Denno*⁵ Hearing**

Sledge made statements following his initial detention after a traffic stop and during his interrogation at the police station, both of which Judge Hill ruled admissible following the pre-trial Denno hearing. R. 18, l. 13 – 43, l. 20. At the hearing, the solicitor presented testimony from Master Deputy Robert May, who initiated the traffic stop, and Sergeant Roman Rivera, who was the lead interrogator. Judge Hill also watched portions of the in-car video and interrogation. R. 28, ll. 2-8; R. 33, ll. 17-24.

May testified that he and Deputy Williams were at the Hot Spot gas station on Augusta Road when they saw Sledge’s car, which was consistent with the “be on the lookout” description they heard over the radio. R. 19, l. 10 – 20, l. 11. As seen on the in-car video, when they initiated the stop at **11:08 p.m.**, the deputies arrived in separate cruisers with their sirens and lights activated. They both had their **guns drawn**. R. 24, ll. 9-15; State’s Ex. 7, 00:00-01:12.

⁴ State’s Exhibit No. 1 (911 call) is on file with this Court. Notations to specific times with respect to this exhibit are based upon the Windows Media Player time display.

⁵ 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964).

May screamed at Sledge: **“Show me your fucking hands. Put your hands out of the fucking window. Put ‘em out of the window. The Sheriff’s Office. Hands out the fucking window.”** State’s Ex. 7, 00:05-00:18; R. 24, ll. 16-25. Williams was also screaming: “Hands out of the window. Get out of the car. Get on the ground. Get on the ground.” State’s Ex. 7, 00:15-00:24. Despite Sledge’s compliance with their instructions, the officers held Sledge down on the pavement and handcuffed his hands behind his back. State’s Ex. 7, 00:23-01:12. Sledge was then placed in the backseat of May’s patrol car and was not free to leave. R. 20, l. 12 – 21, l. 6. May testified that he smelled a strong odor of alcohol on Sledge’s person and he appeared intoxicated. R. 22, ll. 6-10; R. 25, ll. 3-7.

May read Sledge his Miranda⁶ rights from a card. R. 21, l. 7 – 22, l. 5; State’s Ex. 04:00-04:30. In response to whether he wanted to speak with May, the following exchange occurred:

SLEDGE: Why?

DEPUTY MAY: Do you wish to speak with me or no?

SLEDGE: I’d like to speak, I understand – try and understand why.

DEPUTY MAY: Alright. You said you wish to speak, correct?

SLEDGE: **I’d like to know what, what’s going on.**

DEPUTY MAY: You’re being detained right now, okay, because there’s some people over at your house investigating a crime scene.

SLEDGE: A crime scene?

DEPUTY MAY: Mmm, hmm.

SLEDGE: Why?

DEPUTY MAY: A crime scene.

⁶ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966).

SLEDGE: Why?

DEPUTY MAY: You don't know why?

SLEDGE: No, sir, I don't.

DEPUTY MAY: Okay, what were you doing before you left?

State's Ex. 7, 04:28-05:13. Sledge then described some of the day's activities, including that he left after getting into an argument with his wife. He said he was on his way back home. State's Ex. 7, 05:14-05:53. Sledge then asked May "what's wrong?" several times, concerned for both his child and wife. May responded that Sledge's wife had been hurt but would not provide any further detail regarding what happened. State's Ex. 7, 05:53-06:19. Soon after, another officer interrupted and told May not to ask Sledge any more questions. State's Ex. 7, 06:19-07:12.

A few minutes later, Sledge asked May "what is going on?" May responded: "**Well, you're being detained right now. Okay. And there's some people that want to speak to you. Alright. And that's all I can tell you right now.**" Sledge asked "for what reason," and May responded "because something happened at your house." State's Ex. 7, 10:24-10:44. When May returned to the police car approximately thirty minutes later and began driving Sledge away from the scene of the traffic stop, Sledge again asked "what the heck is going on?" May responded: "**Like I said, you're being detained for an investigation. Somebody's going to talk to you about that, okay.**" State's Ex. 7, 39:02-39:16.

Rather than taking Sledge immediately back to the police station, May pulled over with Sledge at **11:55 p.m.**, where they met an officer who swabbed Sledge's hands for gunshot residue. **Sledge expressed his need to urinate at 11:57 p.m.** May said that he could not let him urinate outside but promised that they would let him use the bathroom when they got downtown. State's Ex. 7, 46:05-52:03. At the Denno hearing, May testified that he did not recall Sledge

asking to use the bathroom during transport but believed he asked once they arrived at the law enforcement center. R. 26, ll. 6-22; R. 27, ll. 12-19.

Sledge finally arrived at the police station at **12:26 a.m.** State's Ex. 7, 1:17:55. Sergeant Rivera and Investigator King conducted Sledge's recorded custodial interrogation in the Greenville City Police "interview room." R. 29, l. 6 – 30, l. 19. Prior to that, Rivera saw Sledge in the waiting area, where Sledge asked if he could use the restroom. Rivera told him he would be back in five minutes. R. 30, ll. 20-25. A search warrant was then served on Sledge, which included **stripping Sledge naked while a female officer photographed him.** R. 31, ll. 4-7; R. 35, l. 16 – 37, l. 4.

On direct examination, Rivera said that when he returned, he asked Sledge if he still needed to use the restroom, to which Sledge said "no." R. 31, ll. 1-3. However, on cross-examination, Rivera admitted that when he returned to begin the interrogation **Sledge had urinated on himself.** R. 37, ll. 5-22. The recording of Sledge's interrogation began at **1:41 a.m., nearly two hours after his initial request to use the restroom was documented** by the in-car recording. Court's Ex. 2 (unredacted interrogation video);⁷ State's Ex. 7, 48:33-48:46 and 50:08-50:25. Rivera and King told Sledge that his name had come up in an investigation they were conducting. Sledge asked if his child and wife were fine. Rivera responded: "I don't know anything other than that I'm here to talk to you." King responded: "I know your child is fine." Court's Ex. 2, 1:41:51AM - 1:43:40AM. Sledge admitted that he drank two beers but said that was three or four hours prior and he was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. Court's Ex. 2, 1:43:40AM - 1:44:15AM. Because Sledge could not read the small type without his glasses,

⁷ Court's Exhibit No. 2 (unredacted interrogation video) is on file with this Court. Notations to specific times with respect to this exhibit are based upon the time-stamp in the left corner of the video.

Rivera read Sledge the information on the waiver of rights form, which Sledge signed. R. 31, l. 8 – 33, l. 16; Court's Ex. 2, 1:44:15AM - 1:48:00AM. During the interrogation, Sledge was wearing an orange jumpsuit and had one hand cuffed to a belly chain. At 3:50 a.m., King handcuffed Sledge's second hand to the belly chain, which is how it remained until the conclusion of the interrogation at **4:14 a.m.**, when the officers told Sledge he would be charged with murder. Court's Ex. 2. By that time, Sledge had been in police custody for over five hours.

Defense counsel argued that both statements should be suppressed, but particularly the statements made during the interrogation by Rivera and King. R. 39, ll. 15-18. He noted that at the initial traffic stop "guns are drawn and he is rushed upon by two officers." R. 39, ll. 19-23. He was immediately handcuffed and put in the back of the patrol car. He was told he was being detained but not told why. R. 39, l. 23 – 40, l. 1. Additionally, May testified that Sledge was intoxicated. R. 40, ll. 1-6. Once Sledge was finally transported to the law enforcement center, he remained handcuffed and was denied the opportunity to use the bathroom. He had to urinate on himself. R. 40, ll. 7-13. He was then stripped naked and photographed by a female officer. R. 40, ll. 14-15; R. 42, ll. 1-2. Finally, he was placed into an orange jumpsuit and chain belt so that his hands could be cuffed in front of him. Sledge was never free to leave. R. 40, ll. 15-18. Thus, he argued that the waiver of rights was not free and voluntary based on a totality of the circumstances. R. 40, l. 25 – 41, l. 11. Despite being the party with the burden of proof, the state presented no argument.

Judge Hill ruled that the statements were admissible. R. 41, l. 25 – 43, l. 20. He found that Sledge was Mirandized twice and signed a written waiver of rights. He said that with respect to the interview room setting, the video showed that "it was not a hostile atmosphere." R. 42, ll. 7-20. Judge Hill noted the evidence of intoxication, but found that it did not "erase[]

his ability to understand, process and – process information and make rational decisions.” R. 42, ll. 21-24; R. 43, ll. 12-16. He further ruled:

I don't find any evidence of coercion or pressure to the extent that would find that the Defendant's will was overborne.

I understand the incident regarding the access to the restroom, and his using the restroom. But I don't find that that by itself interfered with the voluntariness of the statement or his knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights under *Miranda*.

I don't find anything in the record that would show me that the statements he gave were not the product of his free and voluntary choice. I don't have any information about his educational background, but he appeared to be in physical and mental health sufficient to give a statement.

R. 42, l. 24 – 43, l. 6. Thus, Judge Hill ruled that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the waivers were freely and voluntarily made such that the statements were admissible. R. 43, l. 17-20.

Defense counsel renewed his pre-trial objection to the admissibility of State's Exhibit 7, the traffic stop video when it was offered into evidence. Judge Hill overruled the objection. R. 72, ll. 1-8. After obtaining rulings from the trial judge and agreeing upon redactions of the interrogation video, State's Exhibit 61 was also admitted into evidence. R. 43, l. 23 – 46, l. 17; R. 196, l. 16 – 211, l. 11; R. 261, ll. 9-14.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court erred in admitting the portions of the 911 call where the caller said that Appellant and his mother were fighting earlier in the evening and where the caller said that Appellant shot his mother because the statements were inadmissible hearsay and more prejudicial than probative.**

Defense counsel objected to the admission of portions of the 911 call made by Sledge's ten-year old stepson, Michael. He argued that the portions where Michael said that John Sledge shot his mom and the discussion of prior arguments between Sledge and Kimberly were inadmissible hearsay, not subject to any exception. R. 15, l. 20 – 16, l. 15. Specifically, the relevant portions of the 911 call included:

OPERATOR: **Who shot your mom?**

CALLER: **John Sledge.**

OPERATOR: When?

CALLER: Just a minute ago; I heard a loud [inaudible].

State's Ex. 1, 1:01-1:10. Michael also told the operator "I think my dad just ran off." State's Ex. 1, 1:35-1:39.

OPERATOR: **Were they arguing?**

CALLER: **Yes, they were arguing.**

OPERATOR: Okay.

State's Ex. 1, 7:44-7:49.

OPERATOR: Were you in your room or something?

CALLER: Yes. I was in my room.

OPERATOR: **Oh, okay. And you just heard them arguing and then heard that, and when you came in there, your mom, did your mom still have the phone in her hand?**

CALLER: **Yeah,** and she dropped it and it flew away.

OPERATOR: Uh, huh. Okay.

State's Ex. 1, 9:00-9:17. The operator warned Michael to tell her if his father returned home. State's Ex. 1, 11:29-11:39, 12:18-12:26, and 12:44-13:00.

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