ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN CALVIN SLEDGE,

Appellant,

Appellate Case No. 2016-000641.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 13 2017
SC Court of Appeals

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

(R. p. 329).

Prior to this waiver and interview, Investigator Rivera testified that Appellant had a search warrant served on his person. (R. p. 31, lines 4-7). Rivera recalled that Appellant asked to use the restroom prior to being ushered into the interview room, and Rivera “told him [he] would be right back with him” within five minutes, as Rivera was gathering the search warrants. (R. p. 30, lines 20-25). When Rivera returned he asked Appellant if he “still” needed to use the restroom and Appellant answered no. (R. p. 31, lines 1-3). On cross-examination, Rivera testified that he separated from Appellant for no more than “a few minutes.” (R. p. 36, lines 10-18; R. p. 37, lines 19-22).

Also clear from cross-examination are the conditions of Appellant’s detention in the interview room. He was outfitted with a chain belt and handcuffs, escorted by two uniformed

deputies, and stripped and photographed as a condition of the search warrant executed on his person. (R. p. 36, lines 11-25). During the interview, one other investigator remained in the interrogation room alongside Appellant and Rivera. (R. p. 37, line 23 – p. 38, line 3). Appellant had not been charged with anything at the time of his waiver. (R. p. 38, lines 10-19).

The circumstances of Appellant's subjection to a search warrant and his soiling himself do not outweigh the voluntariness of Appellant's express waiver. Any embarrassment caused by the execution of a search warrant, and by soiling himself, was no longer present at the time of the interview. Any female officer present during the photographing and intake process was not part of the interview. Throughout the interview, Appellant spoke freely to two plainclothes male investigators. (State's Exhibit 61). Moreover, embarrassment caused by the intake process does not equate with undue coercive forces. In making its ruling, the court additionally benefitted from its observation of Appellant in the interrogation room video recording. (State's Exhibit 61).

Of particular import, the recording of Appellant's waiver indicates that he deliberately waived his *Miranda* rights after an attentive question and answer series with the investigators. The recording began immediately prior to Investigator Rivera's entry into the interview room. (R. p. 38, lines 4-9). At this time, Investigator Rivera introduces himself and the reason for Appellant's interrogation to him, informing him immediately that he must advise Appellant of his rights. (State's Exhibit 61, 0:00 to 1:05). Appellant then questions the investigator regarding the circumstances of his detention. He asks, "you said homicide [investigator]?" (State's Exhibit 61 at 1:18). He also asks, as he did of his arresting officer, whether his child and wife are ok. (State's Exhibit 61 at 1:21 to 1:38). Appellant tells Rivera, in response to a question, that he had a couple of beers three to four hours prior and that other than a steroid to treat a condition on his hands, he did not take any legal or illegal drugs. (State's Exhibit 61 at 1:52 to 2:22).

Rivera begins to read Appellant his rights. Appellant interjects that he can read, but that he does not have his glasses, and therefore could not make out the small writing; however, Appellant indicated he understood the purpose of the paper when he read aloud the title "waiver of rights." (State's Exhibit 61 at 2:23 to 2:48). As Investigator Rivera complied with Appellant's inhibited eyesight by reading the rights to Appellant, Appellant can be seen paying attention to each line. He answered with an emphasized, "Yessir," signifying that he understood those rights. (State's Exhibit 61 at 2:50 to 3:22). Rivera frees a hand for Appellant to initial and sign, and Appellant does so, but not after having Rivera read aloud the waiver of rights paragraph because, as Appellant mentions for a second time, he did not have his glasses. (State's Exhibit 61 at 3:23 to 4:04).

As Rivera again reads the rights aloud, Appellant can be seen slowly shaking his head in agreement with the language of the waiver. When Rivera reaches the portion that states "no promises or threats have been made to me and no pressure or coercion of any kind has been used against me," Appellant interjects with, "Correct." (State's Exhibit 61 at 4:20). Appellant can be seen in the video continuing to pay close attention to each portion of this waiver. His body language indicates that he is intently focused in on the form on the table in front of him. (State's Exhibit 61 at 4:05 to 4:27).

Next, Rivera asks Appellant if he understands what coercion means, and Appellant makes eye contact with Rivera saying, "Coercion? Explain." (State's Exhibit 61 at 4:27 to 4:33). As Investigator Rivera states that coercion means he is not tricking him into doing or signing anything, Appellant can be heard denying the use of any coercion. (State's Exhibit 61 at 4:34 to 4:48). Appellant signs the waiver, concluding his waiver by stating, as Rivera recounted, "I ain't got nothin' to hide, sir." (State's Exhibit 61 at 4:56). Rivera responds, "I appreciate that."

(State's Exhibit 61 at 4:58). This final statement alone evidences a knowing decision to sign the waiver of rights and speak with law enforcement albeit being informed of his rights to do otherwise. Based upon his own representations on video, Appellant made a waiver that can only be described as express.

In addition to the self-confidence evident in Appellant's waiver, no coercive forces were present in the investigators' even, professional tone used in addressing the waiver with him. They answered his questions, explained anything Appellant asked them to, and did not rush or force his signature. (State's Exhibit 61). Appellant did not ask for anything from the investigators during this time, nor during his interview.¹² (*Id.*). Nothing indicates that his will was overborne. By all indications, Appellant was fully aware that he was being detained and questioned, and willingly cooperated. And, while testimony shows that Appellant did urinate on himself prior to interrogation, (R. p. 37, lines 5-22), testimony also shows that he was unattended for no more than a few minutes during which this likely occurred. At no time during questioning was Appellant denied the opportunity to use the restroom by his interrogator. (R. p. 31, lines 1-3). More importantly, Appellant was not denigrated at the time of interrogation by being made to remain in soiled clothing. He wore a dry jumpsuit, and appeared to sit in a clean interview room. (State's Exhibit 61). Moreover, there are valid reasons not to allow Appellant to use the restroom prior to the completion of any search warrant being executed as to his person, such as spoliation of gunshot residue or DNA evidence before law enforcement could collect it pursuant to a valid warrant.

¹² In fact, Appellant asked for one thing only during the interview. Towards the conclusion, he jokingly asks to go outside and smoke, appearing to anticipate that his request would be denied. His tone and language reflects that he felt the request improper given the custodial setting. (State's Exhibit 61 at 30:48 (second file on the disc)).

Again, the record supports the trial court's finding. Considering the totality of the circumstances, Appellant made a knowing and voluntary waiver, consciously deciding to engage in a lengthy interview with law enforcement. Perhaps most telling of voluntariness is Appellant's expression that he understood coercion and simultaneous denial that any was being used to tempt his signature on the waiver form.

As to both waivers, Appellant posits that the trial court only considered the circumstances surrounding Petitioner's statement in a piecemeal fashion, thus ignoring the totality of the circumstances leading to Appellant's waiver and applying the improper test. (Br. of Appellant, p. 19). But the record reflects the trial court found "that, based on all the circumstances, the Defendant, Mr. John Calvin Sledge, did voluntarily waive his rights against self-incrimination." (R. p. 42, lines 5-6). Though the trial court ruled that the statements were voluntary "beyond a reasonable doubt," the court verbalized that applied the proper test and a more stringent standard than required. (R. p. 43, lines 17-18). As delineated, the evidence supports its conclusion.

Appellant points to several conditions concerning the general fact that Appellant was detained at the time he made his statement.¹³ (See Br. of Appellant pp. 21-23). Many of the factors concerning Appellant's interrogation cited to in support of coercion are not coercive interrogation tactics, but rather indicative of the fact that he was subject to custodial interrogation. "The purpose of *Miranda* warnings is to apprise a defendant of the constitutional

¹³ To include: he was pulled over by police and ordered out of his vehicle; handcuffed; detained in the back of a patrol car; swabbed for gunshot residue tests en route to a downtown police station; searched and made to change into an orange jumpsuit upon arrival at the police station; informed he was being questioned as part of a homicide investigation; and questioned by law enforcement for approximately two and a half hours while partially handcuffed. (See Br. of Appellant pp. 21-23).

privilege not to incriminate oneself while in the custody of law enforcement.” *State v. Medley*, 417 S.C. 18, 24–25, 787 S.E.2d 847, 850–51 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing *State v. Evans*, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 409 (2003)). The fact that Appellant was handcuffed and not free to leave renders the requirement that a waiver be obtained before continuing to question him, it does not by itself render the following waiver involuntarily made.

The dispositive inquiry in this case is whether the circumstances of the detainment were unduly coercive at the time Appellant made his waiver, such that the waiver could not have been the result of his own free will. At no time were the conditions of this appellant’s detainment sufficient for the court to find he succumbed to coercive forces. For one thing, the length of Appellant’s detention alone is not coercive because Appellant was in the patrol car for one and a half hours, largely for transport downtown. Then he actively spoke to investigators for two and a half hours. During the remaining hour, Appellant was subject to a search warrant on his person. Additionally, there is no suggestion in the record that Appellant’s will was worn down by improper interrogation tactics, too-lengthy questioning, or any type of deceit. He was informed of the reason for his being questioned. Law enforcement never enticed Appellant to speak with them in order to find out the fate of his wife or family. Appellant was not induced to confess, nor did he. No application of physical or psychological force appears in the record.

At no time were the conditions of this appellant’s detainment sufficient for the court to find he succumbed to coercive forces. To the extent that this claim is preserved for appellate review, Appellant was merely detained, transported, and interrogated after the presentation and acceptance of a two proper *Miranda* waivers.

Should the Court Find these Statements Admitted in Error, Harmless Error Applies

“[A]ny error in the failure to suppress a statement allegedly taken in violation of *Miranda*

is subject to a harmless error analysis.” *State v. White*, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014). “The failure to suppress evidence for possible Miranda violations is harmless if the record contains sufficient evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 636, 654 S.E.2d 292, 296 (Ct. App. 2007).

In Appellant’s case, any error in the trial court’s admission of both the in-car video and interrogation recording cannot be said to have contributed to the verdict obtained. The circumstantial evidence was strong and, when taken together, pointed conclusively to Appellant’s guilt. *See State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 99, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013). As premised by the State at trial, the home contained three individuals prior to the shooting; but afterwards, one was dead, one was missing, and only the son remained. The son, hearing the gunshot and emerging from his room minutes later, worked to retrieve help for his mother, who he had witnessed physically fighting with Appellant less than an hour before. (R. p. 112, lines 5-9; R. p. 277, lines 16-24; R. p. 283, lines 1-13). He called 911 beginning at 10:15 PM. (R. p. 233, lines 11-13; R. p. 283, lines 7-9). Appellant, missing from the home at the time M.W. discovered his mother and called 911, was captured on surveillance video about ten minutes later at 10:27 PM. (R. p. 233, lines 11-25; R. p. 281, line 5 – p. 283, line 9). He was at a convenience store located about a ten minute drive away. (R. p. 236, lines 2-5). No evidence demonstrated that any other party came or went from the home. (R. p. 131, lines 8-18). There were no indications of theft. (R. p. 127, lines 1-7). A .357 revolver leaded with compatible .38 special cartridges was found on the front porch of the home. (R. p. 170, lines 9-18). It had one empty, fired cartridge case in its cylinder. (R. p. 169, lines 18-22). The empty casing had been fired from that gun. (R. p. 170, lines 9-15). The bullet core found near the body had the same general rifling characteristics as the revolver, but was not conclusively related. (R. p. 174, line 18 – p. 176, line 7). According to

the totality of the evidence, Appellant was the only other person present in the home who could have committed the criminal act.¹⁴

Beyond a reasonable doubt, had the trial court found the recorded statements involuntary and inadmissible, the outcome of Appellant's trial would not differ. The evidence presented the jury with two options regarding credibility and guilt: during deliberations, the jury would either find M.W.'s account credible and find Appellant guilty based upon the circumstantial evidence presented, or they would acquit upon a finding of reasonable doubt, implicitly finding credible Appellant's interactions with law enforcement. The jury sided with M.W.'s testimony and the circumstantial evidence in this case.

¹⁴ Because the shot was fired straight-on from several feet away, the death was not the result of suicide. (*See* R. p. 186, line 21 – p. 187, line 2; R. p. 189, lines 18-23). Likewise, M.W., a young boy, could not have fired the gun straight-on at the height of an adult.

III. Appellant's five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime should be vacated because it was issued in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, but the conviction should be affirmed.

A conviction for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime carries a five year penalty "in addition to the punishment provided for the principal crime." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490. "This five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime." *Id.*

Appellant was found guilty of murder, unlawful conduct toward a child, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. p. 324, lines 4-13). The court sentenced Appellant to life. (R. p. 328, lines 18-20; R. p. 334). The life sentence does not carry the possibility of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A). The court then sentenced Appellant to five years for the weapons charge. (R. p. 328, lines 20-22; R. p. 335). Appellant made no objection to the sentence for the weapons charge.¹⁵ (R. p. 328).

Appellant having been inappropriately sentenced for the weapons charge in addition to receipt of a life sentence without parole, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to vacate the five-year sentence. *State v. Owens*, 378 S.C. 636, 637 n.1, 664 S.E.2d 80, 80 n.1 (2008), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). The conviction, however, should be affirmed for the remainder of the reasons reflected within this brief in response.¹⁶ *State v. Palmer*, 415 S.C. 502, 525, 783 S.E.2d 823, 835 (Ct. App. 2016) (affirming conviction and vacating illegal sentence for weapon charge where defendant also sentenced to life for murder).

¹⁵ Appellant also received ten years for unlawful conduct toward a child. (R. p. 328, lines 22-23; Supp. R. p. 3).

¹⁶ As noted in Appellant's brief, this issue was not preserved by objection at the time of sentencing; however, Respondent concedes that Applicant is entitled to the proper sentence regardless of the failure to preserve this issue for appellate review.

CONCLUSION

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